## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

UNITED TELEPHONE COMPANY OF FLORIDA,	)		
Appellant,	Ś		
vs.	)	Case No.	78,173
FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,	)		
Appellee.	5		

ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Jerry M. Johns
Bar No. 0137560
Alan N. Berg
Bar No. 0172112
UNITED TELEPHONE COMPANY
OF FLORIDA
Post Office Box 5000
Altamonte Springs, FL
32716-5000
(407) 889-6018
Attorneys for Appellants

#

#### INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal by United Telephone Company of Florida (United or Company) from Order Nos. 24049 and 24595 issued by the Florida Public Service Commission (Commission or FPSC) on January 31, 1991, and May 29, 1991, respectively.

United has invoked jurisdiction conferred upon this Court by Article V, Section 3(b) (2) of the Florida Constitution, and Sections 350.128(1) and 364.381, Florida Statutes (1989). In accordance with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.200(a)(2), by a Statement of Judicial Acts to Be Reviewed included with its Directions to the Clerk, United limited this appeal to review of the above cited Orders only to the extent that those Orders address and deal with the determination of United's 1990 earnings.

Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, confers on the FPSC the powers over and in relation to telephone companies set forth in the Chapter. See, Section 364.01(1), Fla. Stat. (1989). This Chapter was substantially revised during the 1990 Session of the Florida Legislature. This Case was conducted under the provisions of Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, that existed prior to the revisions by the 1990 Session. See, Section 364.385(2), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990).

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220, this brief is accompanied by an Appendix, which includes copies of the FPSC Orders to be reviewed, as well as other FPSC Orders cited in the brief. References to the Appendix are signified as [A ]. References to other portions of

the Record are signified as [R \_\_\_\_], except that references to the transcript of the hearings conducted on October 1, 3-5, 8 and 9, 1990, are signified as [T \_\_\_\_]. References to Exhibits are signified by using the volume number of the Record in which the exhibit appears followed by the exhibit number and page. For example, page 5 of Exhibit 63 is referenced as follows: R Vol. XXVI, Ex. 63, p. 005.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

United is a local telephone company as defined in Section 364.02 (4), Florida Statutes (1989), and is subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission.

On November 21, 1989, the Commission issued Order No. 22205, initiating a limited proceeding to establish a new return on equity for United and initiating an investigation of the Company's earnings. FPSC Order No. 22205 stated that:

Based on our [the Commission's] general authority to regulate the telecommunications industry as set forth in Section 364.14, Florida Statutes, we hereby schedule a limited proceeding to determine the appropriate return on equity for United and, if appropriate, to place revenues subject to refund. [A 3.]

Commission Order No, 22205 noted that the Commission had previously authorized a range of return on equity for United for 1988 and 1989 of 12.5%-14.5%, and that on January 1, 1990, United's authorized range of return on equity would revert to 14.75%-16.75% authorized in United's last rate case which had been concluded in 1982. [A 1.] Order No. 22205 set a schedule for the limited proceeding in the Docket, and stated that subsequently the Commission would conduct an investigation of United's earnings and rate structure to include the filing of Minimum Filing Requirements and the determination of a test year. [A 3.]

It was also the Commission's intention, although not stated as such, that if the rate of return which  $_{\rm was}$  established in the limited proceeding was lower than the  $_{\rm rate}$ 

of return United was then earning, the difference would be made subject to refund.

Citing as authority Section 364.14, Florida Statutes, and Order No. 22205, the FPSC held a public hearing on December 14, 1989, limited to the issues of the appropriate allowed return on common equity for United, and the calculation of revenues subject to refund, if any. [FPSC Order No. 22377, A 7.] Testimony was received from three witnesses, and the testimony of three other witnesses was accepted by stipulation. The Commission's authority to place revenues subject to refund under Section 364.14, Florida Statutes, was unsuccessfully challenged by United. The Commission stated:

The Company takes the position that Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, does not authorize this Commission to place revenues subject to refund during the pendency of this docket. We find our authority to initiate this limited proceeding the general authority granted within Commission to regulate the telecommunications industry as set forth in Section 364.14, Florida That Section predates the specific provisions of Section 364.05 [sic], Florida Statutes, commonly called the "interim statute." In this limited proceeding, we are resetting the authorized return on common equity for this telephone company. If the provisions of the interim statute adequately addressed the factual particulars of this telephone company's situation we would be utilizing its specific provisions. [FPSC Order No. 22377, A 8.]

## The Commission also found:

Placing a revenue amount subject to refund that will bring the Company's achieved return on equity down to the ceiling of its authorized range of returns [sic] of equity for the Company is in accordance with the provisions of the interim statute. [FPSC Order No. 22377, A 11.]

Order No. 22377 set United's range of return on equity for the purposes of the limited proceeding at 12.3%-13.3%. [FPSC Order No. 22377, A 11.] The Commission also determined that \$7,605,000 of United's revenues should be subject to refund with interest effective January 1, 1990. [FPSC Order No. 22377, A 11.]

On January 12, 1990, United wrote to the Chairman of the Commission requesting a prospective test year of calendar year 1991, which request was granted. [R 66 and 70.]

On May 15, 1991, United filed its minimum filing requirements' (MFRs) [R Volumes XVIII-XXV] which included a requested increase in rates and charges to produce additional revenues of \$25,450,000 based on the 1991 projected test year. United updated its initial MFR filing on August 22, 1990, to incorporate a later budget view. These modifications increased United's request for additional revenues to \$26,290,000 for the test year.

Service hearings were held in Altamonte Springs, Florida, on July 30, 1990, and in Ft. Myers, Florida on August 6, 1990.

Voluminous discovery was conducted of United by the Office of Public Counsel including eleven sets of interrogatories, and sixteen requests for production. The Commission Staff submitted eight sets of interrogatories consisting of 614 separate interrogatories. Forty-one persons

The MFRs constitute the financial and operational data required by Commission Rules to file a rate case.

associated with United were deposed.<sup>2</sup> Some of these persons were deposed in panels. One witness was deposed over a period of five days. In addition, information was provided by United in response to informal requests, and the Commission Staff conducted an audit of United.

The Prehearing Order, Commission Order No. 23539, was issued on September 28, 1990, less than a week before the hearings began on October 3, 1990. Issue 63 in that Prehearing Order addressed the only issue that is on appeal before this Court. That Issue and the Responses to it, as stated in the Prehearing Order, are:

63. <u>ISSUE:</u> What is the amount and appropriate disposition of the revenue held subject to corporate undertaking?

<u>UNITED:</u> The appropriate disposition of the revenue held subject to corporate undertaking cannot be determined until 1990 results are known. (Mr. McRae)

FPTA: No position.

AT&T: No position at this time.

<u>CITIZENS</u>: No position.

STAFF: No position at this time pending further discovery. [FPSC Order No, 23539, p. 48 and 49. R 534-5.]

At the time the Prehearing Order was issued, less than a week remained prior to the commencement of the hearing, and at

This figure double counts those persons who were deposed more than once.

that time no discovery on Issue 63 was pending. No subsequent discovery on the issue ever took place.

Public hearings, at which the Commission heard testimony and received evidence, were held on October 1, 3-5, 8 and 9, 1990, in Tallahassee, Florida. The following parties participated in the Hearings--United, the Office of Public Counsel, AT&T Communications of the Southern States, the Florida Pay Telephone Association and the Commission Staff. The Communications Workers of America was granted intervention to participate in the hearing on operator services issues, but did not present any testimony or cross-examine any witnesses. United presented Six witnesses and the Office of Public Counsel presented two witnesses. The Commission Staff presented two witnesses on service. Testimony of two additional United witnesses, one additional Office of Public Counsel witness and one AT&T witness was admitted by stipulation,

Testimony and evidence relating to United's projected return on equity for 1990 were received during the course of the hearing. Exhibit 6, Schedule C-5, page 2 of 2, a part of the MFRs referred to earlier, reflects a projected return on average common equity for 1990 of 12.75%. [R Vol XVIII, Exhibit 6, Schedule C-5, page 2.] Exhibit 6, Schedule B-5b, page 2, United's 1990 Budget Commitment View dated January 1990, also in the MFRs, reflects a projected intrastate return

on common equity of 12.8% for 1990. [R Vol. XVIII, Exhibit 6, Schedule B-5b, page 2.] These were both filed with the Commission on  $M_{\hbox{\scriptsize av}}$  15, 1990. On cross-examination by the Commission's Staff Attorney, United's Witness McRae was asked if based on United's more current October 1990 budget view, the forecasted return on equity for 1990 and 1991 had changed. After some clarifying questions, Mr. McRae testified that for 1990 the budgeted Commitment View showed United at 12.8%, and that in the updated October View, he believed United was projecting 12.9% return on equity for 1990. [T702-703.] Mr. McRae's belief was confirmed by Exhibit No. 63, submitted by Staff, which shows the projection of 12.9% return on equity for 1990 from the October View Budget dated September 5, 1990. [R Vol. XXVI, Ex. 63, p. 005.] United's June 1990 earnings surveillance report on which the Commission exclusively relied on the issue of United's 1990 earnings in Orders Nos. 24049 and 24595 was also introduced. [R Vol. XXVI, Ex. 61.]

United addressed Issue 63 at length in its posthearing brief filed with the FPSC on November 6, 1990.4 [See, R Vol. VI.] The Office of the Public Counsel also addressed the

Testimony on the accuracy of United's budget projections can be found at T 325-326 and R Vol. XXVI, Ex. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The discussion of this issue, which is Issue 63, begins on page 233 of United's Brief filed with the FPSC on November 6, 1990.

matter in its Brief filed with the FPSC on November 6, 1990.<sup>5</sup>
[R Vol. V.] None of the other parties addressed the issue.

The Commission issued its Order No. 24049 on January 31, 1991. Section VIII on pages 37-39 of the Order, entitled "Disposition of United's Revenues Placed Subject to Refund," addresses the issue before the Court. [A 50-52.] This portion of the Order concludes:

We believe that the Company's June 30, 1990 earnings surveillance report is the most current information available, and this is the most appropriate surrogate for United's earnings for 1990. [FPSC Order 24049, A 51.]

The Order goes on to state that the following adjustments must be made to the June 30, 1990 earning surveillance report:

- a. \$1,156,248 for deferred taxes
- b. \$2,556,767 for directory revenues
- c. \$150,000 for data processing costs
- d. \$706,337 for general service & license expenses
- e. \$379,630 for working capital
- f. an unidentified amount for taxes. [FPSC Order No. 24049, A 51.1

Finally, the Commission stated that:

The Citizen's Brief begins at page 628 of Vol. V.

The Earnings Surveillance Report is a monthly filing required of local telephone companies by Rule 25-4.0245, F.A.C. It shows financial results on a twelve month historical basis. The financial information in the June 30, 1990 earnings surveillance report was based on the last Six months of 1989 and the first six months of 1990.

We have annualized the decline in earnings from December 1989 to June 1990 in order to more closely approximate 1990's earnings. [FPSC Order No. 24049, A 51.]

The Commission concluded from these calculations that United would earn a return on equity in 1990 of 13.84%, which would exceed the midpoint of United's newly authorized rate of return on equity of 13.0% by .84% The Commission did not address its earlier decision in Order No. 22377 to allow United to earn up to a 13.3% return on equity.

The revenue associated with the alleged excess earnings was found to be \$6,151,700. The revenue subject to disposition with interest calculated according to Rule 25-4.114(4), Florida Administrative Code, was \$6,406,949. The Commission disposed of this amount by ordering United to establish a deferred credit of \$6,151,700 plus \$255,249 of interest through December 31, 1990 to be applied to United's next depreciation represcription. [FPSC Order No. 24049, A 52.]

An additional amount of \$1,453,000 was designated as being subject to refund contingent upon a determination of the lawfulness of the underlying adjustment the Commission wished to make. By Order No. 24942 issued on August 20, 1991, the Commission found that no impediment prevents treating the additional \$1,453,000 of 1990 revenues held by United subject to refund, as depreciation. Order No. 24942 will be made a

part of the record on appeal by a supplemental Notice of Appeal. As a consequence of Order No. 24942, the amount at issue herein is the full \$7,605,000 held subject to refund plus interest.

On February 15, 1991, United filed a Motion for Reconsideration of FPSC Order No. 24049 asking, in part, that the use of the June 30, 1990 Earnings Surveillance Report as a proxy for 1990 calendar year earnings be reconsidered.

On May 29, 1991, the FPSC issued its Order No. 24595, which among other things, denied United's Motion for Reconsideration. In Order No. 24595, the Commission stated:

In this proceeding, the June 30, 1990, ESR was the latest and, presumably therefore, the most accurate reflection this Commission had of United's earnings during the interim period. [A 94.]

and

Its June 30, 1990 ESR is the only evidence in the record as to the Company's 1990 earnings for the purposes of interim. [A 95.]

On June 21, 1991, United filed its Notice of Administrative Appeal with this Court and with the FPSC.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue before the Court is whether the Commission's actions in determining that United earned a return on equity of 13.84% in 1990 and ordering United to dispose of all earnings for 1990 above 13.0% comport with the essential requirements of law.

By Order No. 22377, the Commission authorized United to earn up to a 13.3% return on equity in 1990. Order No. 22377 was a final order issued in a limited proceeding authorized, according to the Commission, by Section 364.14, Statutes. The Order states that the interim statute (Section 364.055, Florida Statutes), did not apply to this proceeding. One year later, the Commission issued Order No. 24049, in the same docket, stating that the earlier proceeding was in the nature of an interim proceeding. By this ex parte transformation of a final order into an interim order, United has been stripped of all protections of the interim statute and unlawfully deprived of a hearing upon whether its 1990 rate of return exceeded that which it had been authorized to earn.

In finding that United would earn a return on equity of 13.84% in 1990, the Commission ignored the only competent substantial evidence of what United would earn in favor of a calculation that the Commission Staff developed in part during the agenda conference at which United's rate case was decided.

The rate case, which was based on a projected test year of 1991, necessarily employed forecast data for United's investment, revenue and expense. The source of this data was sophisticated budgeting models developed by United and relied upon by the Commission in determining the rate increase Unrebutted and unchallenged evidence of allowed United. record indicated that United would earn a 12.9% return on equity in 1990, a level that would not result in any earning above the authorized return of 13.3%. The Commission ignored this evidence in favor of evidence of what United earned in the last six months of 1989 and the first six months of 1990, with adjustments that purportedly made that data more representative of 1990. No evidence of record demonstrates, or even infers, that United would earn in 1990 what it earned in an earlier period. Almost all of the so-called adjustments were developed at the Commission agenda conference and are not based on evidence in the record. United had no opportunity to verify or challenge these calculations. The resulting conclusion that United earned 13.84% on equity in 1990 is not based on competent substantial evidence.

The orders under review do not comport with the essential requirements of law and should be quashed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. WHETHER THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION'S ACTION IN DETERMINING UNITED TELEPHONE COMPANY OF FLORIDA'S EARNED RATE OF RETURN FOR 1990 WAS AUTHORIZED BY LAW.

The orders under review do not comport with the essential requirements of the law in that no statutory authority exists to authorize the action taken therein.

It is well settled that the Commission has only such authority as is expressly or by clear implication given to it by statute. Any reasonable doubt as to the existence of a power must be resolved against the Commission. Southern Armored Service, Inc. v. Mason, 167 So.2d 848, 850 (Fla. 1964) and State, Desartment of Transportation v. Mavo, 354 So.2d 359, 361 (Fla. 1978).

The orders the Commission issued in this proceeding demonstrate on their face that the Commission was unable to conform its actions to the statutes from which it is required to draw its powers.

The initial order in this proceeding is Order No. 22205.

[A 1.] In that Order, the Commission stated that based on its "general authority" as set forth in Section 364.14, Florida Statutes, it was initiating a "limited proceeding to determine the appropriate return on equity for United. . . . . . . [A 3. Emphasis added.]

The Order then sets forth a schedule for accomplishing this purpose, following which it states:

Subsequently, we will proceed with an investigation of United's earnings and rate structure. After the completion of the limited proceeding, we will require the Company to file MFRs by a date certain and on a test year to be determined at that time. [FPSC Order No. 22205, A 3. Emphasis added.]

Throughout Order No. 22205, the Commission makes it abundantly clear that it would conduct a "limited proceeding" as opposed to an interim proceeding.

The Commission proceeded upon the schedule it had established and on January 8, 1990, issued Order No. 22377 containing its findings and conclusions with respect to the limited proceeding. This order is styled Final Order Setting United Telephone Company of Florida's Return on Equity for Purposes of this Limited <u>Proceeding</u> and Placing Revenues Subject To Refund. [Emphasis added].

Because United had objected that the Commission had no authority to hold a limited proceeding<sup>7</sup>, the Commission went to some length in asserting that its authority for this limited proceeding would be found in Section 364.14, Florida Statutes. The Commission in defending its reliance upon this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, prior to its 1990 revision which is not applicable in this docket, did not contain a provision for a limited proceeding, unlike Chapters 366 and 367 which cover all regulated utilities other than telephone companies.

provision specifically dismissed any applicability of the interim rate statute:

If the provisions of the interim statute adequately addressed the factual particulars of this telephone company's situation we would be using its specific provisions. However, the last authorized return on common equity set for this Company was set so long ago and in such a different financial climate, that it would be inappropriate to use at this time. [FPSC Order No. 22377, A 8.]

The "provisions" of the statute to which the Commission had reference were to that section of the interim statute which provides that the rate of return on common equity to be used to calculate the interim amount is

the maximum of the range of the last authorized rate of return on equity established in the company's most recent rate case. [Section 364.055(5)(b)3, Fla. Stat. (1989).]

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