## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

UNITED TELEPHONE COMPANY OF FLORIDA,	) \
Appellant,	, ,
v.	) CASE NO. 78,173
FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,	, ) \
Appellee.	ý

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

DAVID E. SMITH Director of Appeals Florida Bar No. 309011

SUZANNE F. SUMMERLIN Senior Attorney Florida Bar No. 398586

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (904) 488-7464

## TABLE OF COMMENTS

	PAGE	NO.
TABLE OF CITATIONS.	• .	ii
SYMBOLS AND DESIGNATIONS OF THE PARTIES		iv
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS	•	1
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	ı	2
ARGUMENT

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

United Telephone Company of Florida asks this Court to quash the portions of the Florida Public Service Commission's Orders Nos. 24049 and 24595 in which the Commission determined United's earnings for the interim period of calendar year 1990 and ordered it to dispose of all earnings for that period in excess of 13.0%. United asserts that these Orders do not comport with the essential requirements of law. These complaints of United are without any foundation in law or fact.

A. The Commission's Action In Determining United Telephone Company Of Florida's Earned Rate Of Return For 1990 Was Consistent With The Provisions Of The Interim Statute And Did Not Violate The Company's Due Process Rights,

In late 1989, the Commission found **itself** in the position of having United Telephone Company of Florida's authorized return on equity (ROE) reverting, as of January 1, 1990, to a range of 14.75% to 16.75%, with a midpoint of 15.75%. United had not had a full rate proceeding since 1982, prior to its merger of four separate companies into the current Company. Over the years since United's last full rate proceeding, the cost of money had dropped and the Company no longer required a 15.75% ROE.

The Commission had previously dealt with the problem of United's ROE being too high by issuing proposed agency action Order No. 19726 on July 26, 1988, authorizing an ROE of 13.5%, with a range of 12.5% to 14.5%, for the years 1988 and 1989. This Order became final when neither United nor the Public Counsel protested it. Order No. 19726 resulted in United's experiencing earnings in excess of its authorized ROE of 14.5% which the Commission then ordered the Company to dispose of by recording additional depreciation expense. This requirement that the Company record additional depreciation expense resulted in a lower overall revenue requirement and subsequent rate reductions.

Although there were various factors that might have accounted for some of the Company's excess earnings, such as access line growth, increased toll volumes and some efficiency gains on the part of the Company, the Company's earnings situation clearly required a full examination by the Commission.

The Commission was thus faced with the need to protect the ratepayers from any excess earnings on a going-forward basis. Therefore, the Commission consulted the provisions of the interim statute as it existed at that time, section 364.055, Florida Statutes (1989). Section 364.055(2)(b) (1989), provides:

(b) In a proceeding for an interim decrease in rates, the commission shall authorize, within 60 days of the filing for such relief, the continued collection of the previously authorized rates; however, revenues collected under those rates sufficient to reduce the achieved rate of return to the maximum of the rate of return calculated in accordance with subparagraph (5)(b)2. shall be placed under

bond or corporate undertaking subject to refund with interest at a rate ordered by the commission.

## Subparagraph (5)(b)2. provides:

2. "Required rate of return" shall be calculated as the weighted average cost of capital for the most recent 12-month period, using the company's last authorized rate of return on equity, the current embedded cost of fixed-rate capital, the actual cost of short-term debt, the actual cost of variable-cost debt, and the actual cost of other sources of capital which were used in the company's last rate case.

At this point, the Commission looked to the Company's last rate case in which it had been authorized to earn a 14.75% to 16.75% ROE. By these specific provisions of the interim statute, the Commission could place subject to refund only earnings in excess of the maximum of the last authorized range of return on equity, or earnings in excess of 16.75%. If it followed the specific provisions in section 364.055, the Commission could not protect the ratepayers, on a going-forward basis, from the earnings in excess of a reasonable ROE that prudent judgment indicated United would experience in 1990.

The Commission is, however, required by law to protect United's ratepayers from unjust or unreasonable rates. §364.14, Fla. Stat. (1989). To fulfill the mandate set out in section 364.14, the Commission initiated a limited proceeding by Order No. 22205, issued November 21, 1989 [A 13. In Order No. 22205, the Commission explained the basis for its concerns regarding United's ROE and its statutory authority for a limited proceeding to

investigate the appropriate ROE for the Company. Order No. 22205 [A 3] states:

On December 14, 1989, we shall hold the limited proceeding hearing and make our decisions regarding the appropriate return on equity for the Company and whether it is appropriate to place revenues subject to refund at a special agenda conference immediately following that hearing.

. . . .

Subsequently, we will proceed with an investigation of United's earnings and rate structure. After the completion of the limited proceeding, we will require the Company to file MFRs by a date certain and on a test year to be determined at that time.

Subsequent to the limited proceeding, the Commission issued Order No. 22377 on January 8, 1990 [A 6], in which United's ROE was established as 12.8%, with a range of 12.3% to 13.3%. Based on the Company's August 31, 1989, surveillance report, which reflected an achieved ROE of 13.66%, and four adjustments, two proposed by United and two by the Commission Staff, the Commission determined United's achieved ROE to be 14.53%. After calculating the amount of earnings necessary to reduce United's achieved ROE of 14.53% to the maximum of the range authorized in the limited proceeding of 13.3%, the Commission then placed \$7,605,000 annually of United's revenues subject to refund with interest effective January 1, 1990. Order No. 22377, in Section III [A 8-91, specifically states:

The Company takes the position that Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, does not authorize this Commission to place revenues subject to refund during the pendency of this

We find our authority to initiate docket. this limited proceeding within the general authority granted this Commission to regulate the telecommunications industry as set forth in Section 364.14, Florida Statutes. Section predates the specific provisions of 364.05 (sic), Florida Statutes, commonly called the "interim statute". this limited proceeding, we are resetting the authorized return on common equity for this telephone company. If the provisions of the statute adequately addressed the interim particulars this factual of telephone company's situation we would be utilizing its specific provisions. However, the authorized return on common equity set for this Company was set so long ago and in such a different financial climate, that it would be inappropriate to utilize it at this time. is imperative that this Commission protect the placing Company's ratepayers by appropriate amount of revenues subject to refund at this point, the outset of a full rate proceeding that will require many months to complete. We can calculate the correct revenue amount only if we first adjust the Company's allowed return on common equity to a more appropriate level.

Later in Order No. 22377 [A 113, the Commission stated:

Placing a revenue amount subject to refund that will bring the Company's achieved return on equity down to the ceiling of the authorized range of returns on equity for the Company is in accordance with the provisions of the interim statute.

As Order No. 22377 makes abundantly clear, United had every indication that the Commission intended to utilize the interim statute in all respects that it could, except for the compelling need to reestablish United's ROE at a more appropriate level. United was aware that the Commission was adjusting its ROE so that the appropriate amount of revenues could be placed subject to

refund at the outset of a rate proceeding in which it would file minimum filing requirements (MFRs). United had no basis on which to believe that it would be involved in anything different than **a** rate case conducted consistent with the requirements of the interim statute.

United has argued that Order No. 22377 could not be considered an "interim order" because its title reflected that it was a final order and because the "Notice of Further Proceedings or Judicial Review" appearing at the end of the order stated the basis for further review of the Commission's "final action" in the matter. It is remarkable that United would attempt to make a serious argument that Order No. 22377 was not an interim order based on such indicia.

United has stated that interim orders have never been subject to judicial review, therefore, because this was a final order and subject to judicial review, it could not be an "interim order". Order No. 22377 was styled a final order because it followed a full hearing in which the Company's authorized ROE was adjusted to a more appropriate level. On that issue, the level of ROE, the Order was final and the Company would have been entitled to judicial review. However, as is already clear, the substantive portion of the order placing revenues subject to refund undeniably demonstrated that it was in the nature of an interim order.

This Court has indicated that it will look to the substance of an **order** for its effect, not to the styling of the title or other less substantive indications. As this Court declared in <u>Citizens</u>
v. <u>Mayo</u>, 316 So.2d 262 (Fla. 1975):

Petitioners contend that the order of the Commission is final and therefore reviewable since it was styled by the Commission in a separate docket. We hold that the order of the Commission is an interim order and not Under the provisions of Section final. 366.06, Florida Statutes, the legislature prescribed the method a utility must use to obtain a rate increase. An "interim rate increase" is a part of the main proceeding and is authorized only "pending a final order by the commission." The statute must be read as a whole. When read in this manner, an interim order is clearly not a separate proceeding whatever its docket number.

This is not, as asserted by petitioners, an unrestricted discretionary grant of power. The Commission, under the statute, must act reasonably, given the circumstances of each request, . . . The Commission's action is restricted to ensure the protection of the public through an appropriate bond

. . . We hold the legislature had the power to grant this authority, and adequate due process protections are provided in the act. . . .

Id. at 263-264.

The purpose of the restrictions on the Commission's interim authority is the protection of the public. The Commission has amply demonstrated that its paramount intention in this proceeding has been to protect United's ratepayers.

United subsequently filed its MFRs on May 15, 1990. On July 23, 1990, the parties attended an issue identification meeting at which the issues to be resolved in the rate proceeding were

identified by the parties. As early as that date, United **was** aware that there would be an issue in the proceeding to deal with the appropriate amount and disposition of the revenues held subject to refund.

As late as the prehearing conference, which was held August 27, 1990, the parties had the opportunity to argue for the addition, deletion, or alteration of issues. Order No. 23539 [R 487], the Prehearing Order, subsequently issued on September 28, 1990, reflected the agreed-upon wording of Issue 63 as follows:

63. <u>ISSUE:</u> What is the amount and appropriate disposition of the revenue held **subject** to corporate undertaking?

<u>UNITED</u>: The appropriate disposition of revenue held subject to corporate undertaking cannot be determined until 1990 results are known. (Mr. McRae)

FPTA: No position.

AT&T: No position at this time.

CITIZENS: No position.

<u>STAFF:</u> No position at this time pending further discovery.

United makes much of the fact that the Company was the only party that took a position on this issue in the Prehearing Order. However, the very fact that the issue was identified in the Prehearing Order as an issue that would be dealt with in the hearing demonstrates that United's claimed lack of notice or belief that this issue would or should be resolved at the conclusion of the rate case is disingenuous. Indeed, as this Court noted in

<u>Citizens v. Public Service Commission</u>, 435 So.2d 784, 787 (Fla. 1983):

The Commission unquestionably has the discretionary authority under Administrative Procedure Act, chapter 120, Florida Statutes (1981), to determine issues which will be litigated in a rate proceeding, both to put parties on notice and to ensure an adequate musterins of evidence. Commission's prehearing conference was held to provide counsel an opportunity to raise issues of concern and its prehearing order then formalized the decisions there agreed upon. (emphasis added)

The Commission's prehearing order in this matter put United on notice that its 1990 earnings and the appropriate disposition of its revenues placed subject to refund were at issue.

United Telephone Company of Florida had every reason to know and believe that the Florida Public Service Commission's action in placing its revenues subject to refund by Order No. 22377 was an interim measure to protect ratepayers consistent with the procedures set out in section 364.055, Florida Statutes (1989). The Commission made it absolutely clear that this was its intent in Orders Nos. 22205 and 22377.

The Commission reiterated this intent in its final rate case Order No. 24049, issued January 31, 1991 [A 14], and again on reconsideration, in Order No. 24595, issued May 29, 1991 [A 90]. The Commission gave United more than ample opportunity to be heard at every juncture of this proceeding. United had every reason to know that this was an action patterned on the interim statute in every particular except the adjustment of the Company's ROE during

the limited proceeding. In all other respects, this proceeding was consistent with the Commission's past practice in applying the provisions of the interim statute. United was given **every** due process right to which it was entitled.

During the limited proceeding to adjust United's ROE to a reasonable level, United was given a <u>full</u> hearing, with the opportunity to present witnesses and testimony and to cross-examine opposing witnesses. United fully exercised its due process rights during that limited proceeding. Order No. 22377 fully set out the basis for the Commission's decision to reduce United's authorized ROE to 12.8%, with a range of reasonableness of 12.3% to 13.3%. Based on the adjusted ROE, Order No. 22377 placed a portion of United's revenues subject to refund to protect the ratepayers.

United had, throughout the proceeding, the full knowledge that some disposition was to be made of those revenues at the conclusion of the rate proceeding. The Company may complain now that the outcome it desired did not result, but it cannot complain that the Commission abused its rights.

United did not request reconsideration nor did it file an appeal of Order No. 22377. United treated Order No. 22377 as what it recognized it to be, an order establishing an interim rate subject to adjustment at the end of the full rate proceeding.

B. The Commission Has Granted United Its Full Due Process Rights By Affording It A Fair Hearing And An Opportunity To Present Evidence And Testimony On Its 1990 Earnings In The Context Of The Full Rate Proceeding.

United clearly knew that the Commission would act on Issue 63 at the conclusion of the rate proceeding. United, therefore, has in actuality already <a href="had">had</a> its hearing on its 1990, or interim period, earnings. The simple fact is that United now believes that its actual 1990 data would show that it earned less than its June 30, 1990, earnings surveillance report reflected. Therefore, United asserts that it has been denied its right to a full hearing.

It is well established that the Commission is not required to hold a full separate evidentiary proceeding focused only on the interim period's earnings. The Court stated in Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company v. Bevis, 279 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1973):

In <u>City</u> of <u>Miami v. Florida Public Service Commission</u>, 208 So. 2d **249** (Fla. 1968), we determined that the Commission could not make a retroactive utility rate reduction, but we have never held the Commission powerless to make interim increases contingent on the outcome of a full hearing, and thus refundable if the full hearing discloses that the interim increase was improvidently granted. Thus, the company can be allowed to enjoy the rate of return authorized by the Florida Public Service Commission while full rate hearings progress without endangering the consumers of the utility's services.

<u>Id</u> at 286-287.

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